
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
February 26, 2024 at 6:30 PM 

Council Chambers 
 

Council Members: President M. Terry, J. Eudaily, K. Ferguson, T. Harriman, A. Lewis, J. Sintz 
Mayor: Jody Carney   Village Administrator: Haley Lupton 

Police Chief: Dale McKee   Director of Finance: Renee’ Sonnett   Director of Law: Paul-Michael La Fayette 
 
 
Call to Order: Pledge of Allegiance led by Plain City Girl Scout Troop 5148 
 
 
Approvals:  Agenda:  Council Meeting – February 26, 2024 
 Minutes:  Council Work Session – February 12, 2024 
  
 
Youth Spotlight: Lily Schneider 
 
 
Visitors: None. 
 
 
Reports: 

- Mayor 
- Village Administrator 
- Finance Director 
- Police Chief 
- Council President 
- Law Director 
- Development 
- Economic Development Committee 
- Board of Zoning Appeals 
- Planning & Zoning Commission 
- Parks & Recreation Committee 
- Tree Commission 
- Personnel & Finance, CIP Committee 
- Fire Board 
- Rules Committee 
- Plain City Area Development Corporation 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

Discussion Items: 

- 2024 Impact Fee Annual Report 
- Ohio Plan Package Proposal 
- Removal of Chapter 185, Income Tax, of the Codified Ordinances 
- Parks and Recreation Department Year End Review 
- Noise Ordinance Proposal 

 
 
Public Hearing: None. 
 
 
Unfinished Business: 
 
2nd Reading Ordinance 06-2024: Establishing a Moratorium on the Cultivation, Processing, and Retail Sale 
of Adult Use Cannabis Within the Village of Plain City 
 
 
New Business: 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 04-2024: Amending the Codified Ordinances, Chapter 509.10, Excessive Noise, of 
Part Five of the General Offenses Code 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 07-2024: Amending the Codified Ordinances by the Removal of Chapter 185, Income 
Tax, of Part One of the Administrative Code 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 08-2024: Approving Current Replacement Pages to the Plain City Codified 
Ordinances 
 
1st Reading Resolution 11-2024: Establishing the Cadet Position within the Plain City Police Department 
 
 
Adjourn 



 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

COUNCIL MINUTES 
February 12, 2024 at 6:30 PM 

Council Chambers 
 

Council Members: President M. Terry, J. Eudaily, K. Ferguson, T. Harriman, A. Lewis, J. Sintz 
Mayor: Jody Carney   Village Administrator: Haley Lupton 

Police Chief: Dale McKee   Director of Finance: Renee’ Sonnett   Director of Law: Paul-Michael La Fayette 
 
 
Call to Order:  
 
Mayor Carney called the meeting to order at 6:30pm, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance led by Cub Scout 
Pack 90. 
 
Present: J. Carney, J. Eudaily, K. Ferguson, T. Harriman, A. Lewis, J. Sintz, and M. Terry. 
 
Absent: None. 
 
 
Approvals: 
 
 Agenda: Council Meeting – February 12, 2024 
 
The February 12, 2024 agenda was approved by unanimous consent. 
 
Minutes: Council Work Session – February 7, 2024 
 
Mr. Sintz motioned to approve the February 7, 2024 minutes, seconded by Mr. Harriman. All in favor. 
  
 
Moment of Silence: Remembrance of Former Councilmember Cora Phillips 
 
 
Certificate of Appreciation: Courey Leer 
 
Mayor Carney presented a Certificate of Appreciation to Ms. Courey Leer. Ms. Leer led the creation of the 
Plain City Walks organization and recently held the first Plain City Arts Walk event in the Uptown area. The 
Mayor thanked Ms. Leer for her leadership and civic engagement. 
 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

Visitors: Steve Syfert 
 
Mr. Syfert introduced himself and thanked Council for their time in updating the noise ordinance and 
addressing citizen concerns. He stated that he has one concern with the proposed noise ordinance in that 
it requires a sound level meter to distinguish what is creating the noise being measured, which is difficult 
to do with an electronic device. Mr. Syfert provided an example of attempting to distinguish between a dog 
barking or music from a concert and the difficulty in ascertaining what is truly causing the excessive noise 
by only utilizing a sound level meter. He is concerned that it will be too difficult under the proposed 
ordinance to issue citations. Mr. Syfert encouraged Council to consider prohibiting electronic noise 
amplification devices in the proposed code. Mayor Carney thanked Mr. Syfert for his time and comments. 
 
 
Reports: 

- Mayor: Mayor Carney and Ms. Lupton recently met with state officials to discuss current topics 
germane to local government. The Mayor attended the grand opening for the Mi Sombrero 
restaurant. Additionally, Mayor Carney participated in the Plain City Arts Walk and Love on Main 
events. Lastly, the Mayor was a judge in the Pinewood Derby for Cub Scout Pack 90 and 
participated in a flag dedication ceremony. 

- Village Administrator: Ms. Lupton and staff recently met with Ohio Department of Transportation 
District 6 representatives for the initial right-of-way meeting regarding the Maple Street bridge 
replacement project. Staff is also coordinating with the Village Engineer to complete preparation 
for the annual paving program. 

- Finance Director: Nothing to report. 
- Police Chief: Chief McKee stated that Officer Drake recently assisted Tolles Career & Technical 

Center with their criminal justice event. Additionally, Officer Sigrist and Detective Greenbaum will 
be presenting workplace violence training to administrative staff on February 22, 2024. 

 
 
Discussion Items: 
 
2023 Year End Financial Report: 
 
Ms. Sonnett provided a year-end report for 2023 which also included an overview of the current status of 
the Finance Department and notable highlights and accomplishments. Overall, the Village is doing 
exceptionally well financially with strong revenue and low expenses. Additionally, the revenue from income 
tax increased in 2023 and income from interest rates were high. The Village is maintaining its philosophy 
of fiscal conservatism and is continuing to adhere to the recently enacted General Fund Balance Policy. 
Debt payments continue as planned and, dependent on revenue in 2024, staff expects to further pay down 
existing debt. The Utility Clerk was promoted to the Administrative Assistant position in 2023 and has 
been doing very well in the new position. Lastly, Ms. Sonnett attended several conferences and seminars 
last year, all of which were informational and beneficial. Mayor Carney thanked Ms. Sonnett for her update 
and information. 
 
Incentive Policy: 
 
Mr. Stanford provided an update regarding the in-progress Economic Development Incentive Policy, which 
is nearing completion. The policy includes a potentially new program for annexations and embodies the 
Village’s desire to be respectful to residents and judicious with taxpayer money. Continued 
communication with the Jonathan Alder Local School District and the Pleasant Valley Fire District are 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

emphasized in the proposed policy. Mr. Stanford reminded those in attendance that the Village cannot, by 
law, force a property owner to annex, nor would the Village ever desire to force such a situation. However, 
as growth continues, staff wants to ensure that annexations are done strategically and correctly. Over the 
past year, staff has engaged with several property owners that desire to preserve their farmland about 
potential annexations. Mr. Stanford stated that the proposed policy includes language that would 
encourage sustainable and cohesive developments that emphasize green space preservation and 
protecting the Big Darby Creek. Through the policy, on a limited case-by-case basis, the Village would be 
able to offer annexation benefits to property owners that may include: waived rezoning fees, legal fees, or 
survey fees, and other incentives. Mr. Stanford expects to have a more formal proposal before Council in 
the next several weeks after legal review. He strongly believes adopting such a policy will assist in long-
term planning and protecting the Village of Plain City. If Council approves the policy, the Village would be 
one of the few municipalities in the state of Ohio to have adopted such a policy. 
 
Mr. Sintz asked a clarifying question regarding the “no-development registry”. Mr. Stanford stated that the 
registry would serve as a type of “do not call” list in which property owners that do not desire development 
would be able to place their name and property on the list and would not be contacted by developers. 
 
Mr. Sintz asked if there is a limit to the number of property owners that would be able to participate in the 
incentive policy program. Mr. Stanford said there is not a limit but that staff is developing a priority list of 
strategic properties that would be the primary focus of the program. The benefits to be extended would be 
listed in the pre-annexation agreement to maintain transparency. 
 
Mr. Eudaily stated that he appreciates the inclusion of a “enterprise zone” within the policy and believes it 
is beneficial for long-term planning. 
 
Mr. Harriman inquired how the policy would be advertised if it is approved. Mr. Stanford said that some 
preliminary discussion has taken place with surrounding property owners and if Council approves the 
policy, those discussions would continue. Otherwise, staff would contact the property owners listed on 
the priority list and then, in the future, plan to host an informational meeting and would advertise such 
meeting to other property owners. The program would be available for both Union and Madison County 
properties. Mr. Harriman is also appreciative of the transparency of the proposed policy. 
 
Mr. Lewis is in favor of the proposed policy and believes it would be beneficial to property owners that do 
not know the annexation process or may have questions. He believes the open line of communication with 
property owners would be beneficial for all parties involved. 
 
 
Police Wage Scale Update: 
 
Ms. Lupton provided an overview of the police wage scale update and noted that the Personnel & Finance, 
CIP Committee has had extensive discussion regarding the topic. The challenge of providing competitive 
wage salaries to patrol officers is not unique to Plain City but is still a challenge nonetheless given the 
limited available of resources. The open police officer position has been advertised since August 2023. 
The Personnel & Finance, CIP Committee discussed the proposal to increase the wage scale of Police 
Department employees during their most recent meeting. During the meeting, several options were 
proposed and discussed. Upon review, the Committee unanimously recommended that Council approve 
“Option 1” for the wage scale increase. The recommendation is present on tonight’s agenda in the form of 
Resolution 10-2024. Ms. Lupton stated that this option is financially feasible and would make the Police 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

Department more competitive with surrounding municipalities. Mr. David Conley, the Village’s financial 
advisor, assisted in the analysis and compilation of the different options.  
 
Mr. Terry inquired if a wage scale comparison has been done in regards to other municipalities. Chief 
McKee stated that comparisons have been completed and if approved, the new wage scale would make 
Plain City’s wage scale competitive with surrounding municipalities. Chief stated that Mr. Conley 
completed significant research and, as such, Chief is also in support of the first option. Mr. Harriman 
noted that he was present as a visitor at the recent Personnel & Finance, CIP Committee meeting and is 
also in support of the proposed legislation. 
 
The Depot: 
 
Ms. Lupton provided a presentation regarding The Depot project, which seeks to purchase a historic train 
depot and create a public amenity known as the Public Square in the Uptown area near the water tower. 
Tonight’s agenda includes a first reading of the legislation that would ratify the purchase agreement for 
the depot. Staff is requesting a waiver of the second reading due to the time constraints of the project. 
The proposed project is aligned with the goals and recommendations of the 2023 Uptown Master Plan and 
would create additional public open space in the Uptown area. Ms. Lupton provided several details 
regarding the historic background of the train depot. She also provided information regarding a potential 
timeline for the overall project, including the phases to take place. 
 
Mayor Carney thanked Ms. Lupton for her presentation and all of staff’s work in making this project 
become a reality. Mr. Harriman agreed with the Mayor’s comments. Mr. Sintz stated that he thinks the 
concept renderings look great and that this will become a great community amenity and looks forward to it 
becoming a reality. Mr. Eudaily also appreciates the project and the foundation it will create for future 
events. Mr. Lewis and Mr. Terry also expressed their support. Ms. Ferguson stated her appreciation for the 
multi-use aspect of the existing buildings on the property. Council agreed that the historical connection of 
the overall project to Plain City’s railroad history is a great feature of the project. Ms. Lupton thanked 
Council for their support and noted that the seller is happy that a municipality will be purchasing the 
structure so that it will be available for public enjoyment for years to come. 
 
 
Public Hearing: None. 
 
 
Unfinished Business: 
 
2nd Reading Resolution 07-2024: Authorizing and Directing the Village Administrator to Apply for Safe 
Routes to School Project Funding 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to approve Resolution 07-2024, seconded by Mr. Eudaily. All in favor. 
 
 
New Business: 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 04-2024: Amending the Codified Ordinances, Chapter 509.10, Excessive Noise, of 
Part Five of the General Offenses Code 
 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

Mr. Terry asked Mayor Carney if he may provide a few comments regarding Ordinance 04-2024. Mayor 
Careny said yes. Mr. Terry stated that, after additional review, he is contemplating if measuring sound 
from the source and not the receiving land use, as proposed, would be beneficial. Ms. Ferguson agrees and 
believes that language change would give business owners more responsibility and accountability when 
hosting outdoor entertainment or other similar events. She believes measuring sound from the source 
would provide greater clarity for the entities producing the sound to know what limits they must fall within. 
Mr. Lewis agreed with Mr. Terry and Ms. Ferguson’s comments and believes that measuring from the 
source may make enforcement easier for police officers. Mayor Carney thanked the Councilmembers for 
their comments and agrees that the enforceability is an important aspect. 
 
Mr. Harriman inquired about the verbiage relating to the “sustained length of time” for a reading and how a 
short increase in sound would affect the overall reading. Mr. La Fayette responded that the final decision 
would still be within the officer’s discretion and such officer discretion would be present regardless of how 
the proposed code is written. Mr. Harriman is supportive of maintaining officer discretion and trusts Plain 
City’s officers to maintain a high level of judgement in those situations. 
 
Mr. Lewis believes it is important to create a noise ordinance that supports cooperation among residents 
and business owners and cited an example from the city of Powell in which they sought to increase 
communication between involved parties to decrease noise complaints. However, he understands the 
complexity of the current situation. 
 
Mr. Sintz noted that one of the goals in updating the noise ordinance was to remove as much of the 
subjectivity as possible. Mr. Terry agreed and added that another goal was to increase the accountability 
of residents and business owners. 
 
Mr. Terry reiterated that it may be easier to measure sound levels from the source rather than the 
receiving land. Council agreed that if the change is made to measure sound from the source, that the 
decibel levels in the proposed code would need updated. 
 
Mr. Harriman motioned to direct staff to compose an update to the proposed noise ordinance such that it 
would require sound to be measured from the source, not receiving land use, and to update the decibel 
levels accordingly. The motion was seconded by Mr. Terry. All in favor. Mr. La Fayette noted that, given the 
motion and subsequent update, the next reading of the noise ordinance would be a first reading and not a 
second reading. 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 05-2024: Approving a 2023 Supplemental Budget Update and Requesting a Waiver 
of the Second Reading 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to waive the second reading of Ordinance 05-2024, seconded by Mr. Sintz. All in favor. 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to approve Ordinance 05-2024, seconded by Mr. Eudaily. All in favor. 
 
1st Reading Ordinance 06-2024: Establishing a Moratorium on the Cultivation, Processing, and Retail Sale 
of Adult Use Cannabis Within the Village of Plain City 
 
Ms. Lupton noted that the proposed moratorium would not prohibit the adult personal use of marijuana, in 
accordance with the Ohio Revised Code, but would only prohibit the professional cultivation, processing, 
and retail sale of marijuana within Village limits. 
 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

1st Reading Resolution 09-2024: Ratifying the Purchase Agreement with Info Depot, LLC for the Plain City 
Historic Depot and Requesting a Waiver of the Second Reading 
 
Mr. Harriman motioned to waive the second reading of Resolution 09-2024, seconded by Mr. Sintz. All in 
favor. 
 
Mr. Harriman motioned to approve Resolution 09-2024, seconded by Ms. Ferguson. All in favor. 
 
1st Reading Resolution 10-2024: Amending the Wage Scale of the Employees of the Plain City Police 
Department 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to waive the second reading of Resolution 10-2024, seconded by Mr. Eudaily. All in 
favor. 
 
Mr. Lewis motioned to approve Resolution 10-2024, seconded by Mr. Harriman. All in favor.  
 
 
Executive Session: Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 121.22(G)(8): To consider information related to 
economic development assistance. 
 
Mayor Carney stated that in addition to Council and staff, additional member of staff Mr. Stanford will 
attend the Executive Session. 
 
Mr. Sintz motioned to enter Executive Session at 7:46pm, seconded by Mr. Harriman. All in favor. 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to exit Executive Session at 8:45pm, seconded by Ms. Ferguson. All in favor. 
 
Executive Session: Pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 121.22(G)(4): To prepare for negotiations with 
public employees concerning their compensation. 
 
Mayor Carney stated that in addition to Council and staff, additional member of staff Mr. Stanford will 
attend the Executive Session. 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to enter Executive Session at 8:47pm, seconded by Ms. Ferguson. All in favor. 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to exit Executive Session at 9:05pm, seconded by Mr. Sintz. All in favor. 
 
 
Adjourn: 
 
Mr. Terry motioned to adjourn, seconded by Mr. Sintz. Meeting adjourned at 9:05pm. 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com  

DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE 
2024 Annual Report 

Date: February 26, 2024 

TO: Village of Plain City Council 

RE: Impact Fee Annual Report 

Pursuant to Village of Plain City Codified Ordinances 961.04, an annual review of the previous year’s 
development impact fees is due to Council by March 1.  

 

1) AMENDMENTS REQUESTED TO THE IMPACT FEE PROCESS:  
None at this time. The Village is exploring the establishment of a Stormwater Impact Fee.  

 

2) NUMBER OF BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED BY TYPE 
a. Residential new dwellings – 185 
b. Commercial new dwellings – 0 

 

3) FEES COLLECTED BY FUND in 2023 
a. Public Safety (4912.841.0000) - $41,610.00 
b. Roadway (4910.841.0000) - $57,676.50 
c. Sanitary Sewer (4911.841.000) - $208,734.00 

Total Collected: $ 308,020.50 

 

4) EXPENDITURES BY FUND in 2023 
a. Police - $0 
b. Road- $0  
c. Sanitary Sewer - $0 

Total Expended: $0 

 

5) BALANCE OF FUNDS AS OF JANUARY 2024 
a. Police - $54,750.00 
b. Road- $59,324.00  
c. Sanitary Sewer - $242,790.60 



800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com  

6) PLANNED EXPENDITURES BY FUND: 
a. Police - $0 at this time 
b. Road- $0 at this time 
c. Sanitary Sewer – Balance to be put towards regional sewer line upgrades needed in the 

Village of Plain City.  

 

 

Other Data 

Year Residential New Dwelling Permits 
2019 25 
2020 74 
2021 7 
2022 98 
2023 185 

 











































































































P A R K S
&

R E C R E A T I O N
2 0 2 3

A N N U A L
R E P O R T



L E T T E R  F R O M  S T A F F
AS STEWARDS OF OUR CITY'S RECREATIONAL SPACES AND PROGRAMMING, WE ARE EXCITED TO

PRESENT TO YOU THE ACCOMPLISHMENTS, MILESTONES, AND INSIGHTS GATHERED OVER THE
PAST YEAR.

THIS REPORT SERVES AS A TESTAMENT TO THE COLLECTIVE EFFORT AND UNWAVERING
COMMITMENT OF OUR TEAM TO ENHANCE THE QUALITY OF LIFE FOR OUR COMMUNITY MEMBERS

THROUGH ACCESSIBLE AND ENGAGING RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES. THROUGH
COLLABORATION, INNOVATION, AND A DEEP-ROOTED PASSION FOR SERVING OUR RESIDENTS,

WE HAVE STRIVED TO MAKE PLAIN CITY A VIBRANT AND INCLUSIVE PLACE FOR ALL.

WE RECOGNIZE THE INVALUABLE SUPPORT AND PARTNERSHIP OF THE PLAIN CITY COUNCIL IN
OUR MISSION TO FOSTER A THRIVING RECREATIONAL ENVIRONMENT. YOUR GUIDANCE AND

ADVOCACY HAVE BEEN INSTRUMENTAL IN REALIZING OUR SHARED VISION FOR A COMMUNITY
WHERE INDIVIDUALS OF ALL AGES AND BACKGROUNDS CAN FLOURISH AND CONNECT WITH

NATURE, RECREATION, AND EACH OTHER.

AS YOU DELVE INTO THE CONTENTS OF THE 2023 YEAR END REPORT, WE INVITE YOU TO REFLECT
ON THE COLLECTIVE ACHIEVEMENTS, CHALLENGES, AND OPPORTUNITIES THAT LIE AHEAD. WE

REMAIN STEADFAST IN OUR COMMITMENT TO CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT AND LOOK FORWARD
TO COLLABORATING WITH YOU TO FURTHER ELEVATE THE RECREATIONAL EXPERIENCES

AVAILABLE TO OUR RESIDENTS.



O U R  P U R P O S EO U R  P U R P O S E

A C Q U I R E  L A N D  &  D E V E L O P  P A R K S  A N D
T R A I L S  T O  M E E T  C O M M U N I T Y  N E E D S

P R O V I D E  S A F E ,  C L E A N  &  M E M O R A B L E
E V E N T S  A N D  E N V I R O N M E N T S

G R O W  A N D  M A I N T A I N  I N D O O R / O U T D O O R
R E C R E A T I O N A L  F A C I L I T I E S

G R O W  A N D  M A I N T A I N  R E C R E A T I O N A L
P R O G R A M S  A N D  E V E N T S

B A L A N C E  G R O W T H  &  C O M M U N I T Y  N E E D S
W I T H  P R A C T I C A L  S O L U T I O N S

T H E  P A R K S  A N D  R E C R E A T I O N  D E P A R T M E N T  W I L L
C O N T I N U E  T O  U S E  T H E  2 0 2 0  P A R K S  M A S T E R  P L A N  T O

G U I D E  O U R  C U R R E N T  A N D  F U T U R E  E F F O R T S



F A C E B O O K
F O L L O W E R S :  3 , 5 0 0
R E A C H :  1 2 8 , 7 2 5
P A G E  V I S I T S :  1 9 , 1 5 7

A P P  N O T I F I C A T I O N S ,  F L Y E R S ,  S L A T  S I G N S ,
B A N N E R S ,  N E W S L E T T E R ,  N E W S P A P E R ,  A N D
P E A C H J A R  ( J A  N E W S L E T T E R )

2 0 2 3  M A R K E T I N G  &  C O M M U N I C A T I O N

P A R K S  A N D  R E C

F A R M E R S  M K T

F A C E B O O K
F O L L O W E R S :  2 , 7 1 3
R E A C H :  4 2 , 5 6 1
P A G E  V I S I T S :  1 0 , 6 9 4

I N S T A G R A M
F O L L O W E R S :  1 0 3



C O M M U N I T Y  P A R T N E R S

A  S P E C I A L  T H A N K S  T O  A L L  O F  O U R  C O M M U N I T Y  P A R T N E R S !
T H E I R  G E N E R O U S  C O N T R I B U T I O N S  H E L P  T H E  V I L L A G E

P R O V I D E  Q U A L I T Y  E V E N T S  A N D  R E C R E A T I O N  P R O G R A M S
F O R  T H E  C O M M U N I T Y .

J O N A T H A N  A L D E R  S C H O O L
D I S T R I C T
P L A I N  C I T Y  A R E A  B A L L
A S S O C I A T I O N
P L A I N  C I T Y  H I S T O R I C A L
S O C I E T Y
P L A I N  C I T Y  P U B L I C  L I B R A R Y
P L A I N  C I T Y  L I O N S  C L U B
P L A I N  C I T Y  L E O S  C L U B
U N I O N  C O U N T Y  H E A L T H
D E P A R T M E N T
M A D I S O N  C O U N T Y  H E A L T H
D E P A R T M E N T
C O S I

T O L L E S
O H I O  D E P A R T M E N T  O F
N A T U R A L  R E S O U R C E S
C O L U M B U S  A N D  F R A N K L I N
C O U N T Y  M E T R O  P A R K S
M I A M I  V A L L E Y  S T E A M
T H R E S H E R S  A S S O C I A T I O N
P L A I N  C I T Y  M U S I C ,  A R T S  A N D
T H E A T E R
D A U G H T E R S  O F  T H E
A M E R I C A N  R E V O L U T I O N
A M E R I C A N  L E G I O N  P O S T  2 4 8
D A I L Y  N E E D S  A S S I S T A N C E
( D N A )



C O M M U N I T Y  S P O N S O R S

T H A N K  Y O U  T O  A L L  O F  O U R  S P O N S O R S  F O R  T H E I R
A S S I S T A N C E  I N  H E L P I N G  T H E  P L A I N  C I T Y  P A R K S  A N D

R E C R E A T I O N  D E P A R T M E N T  E N H A N C E  T H E  L I V E S  O F  O U R
C I T I Z E N S  A N D  C O M M U N I T Y  B Y  P R O V I D I N G  Q U A L I T Y

F A C I L I T I E S ,  P R O G R A M S ,  A N D  S E R V I C E S !

C H A P M A N  F O R D
U N I O N  C O U N T Y  H E A L T H
D E P A R T M E N T
E R  A U T O C A R E
U N I O N  C O U N T Y  F O U N D A T I O N
T H E  M I D D L E F I E L D  B A N K I N G
C O M P A N Y
N O R M  T R O Y E R  B U I L D E R S ,  L L C

S M I L E  T O  L O V E
O R T H O D O N T I C S
R I C H W O O D  B A N K
U N I O N  R U R A L  E L E C T R I C
S C O T T S
J A N  &  T O N Y S
G + J  P E P S I
P R I D A Y  S U R V E Y I N G

I N  2 0 2 3  A  N E W  R E V A M P E D  S P O N S O R S H I P  B R O C H U R E  W A S
C R E A T E D  I N - H O U S E  T O  H I G H L I G H T  A L L  T H E  O P P O R T U N I T I E S

F O R  V I L L A G E  E V E N T S



P A R K S



2 0 2 3  P A R K  I M P R O V E M E N T S

P A S T I M E  P A R K M A D I S O N  M E A D O W S

M C K I T R I C K  P A R K

R E N T A L  F A C I L I T I E S

C O N C R E T E  F L O O R  A N D
N E W  L I G H T I N G  I N  T H E
C A T T L E  B A R N
N E W  R O O F  O N  T H E  L I O N S
B U I L D I N G
A D A  S I D E W A L K  A R O U N D
Y O U T H  B U I L D I N G  +  G R A V E L
P A R K I N G  L O T

N E W  P A R K I N G  L O T
S H E L T E R  W I T H  R E S T R O O M S
N E A R I N G  C O M P L E T I O N
P L A Y G R O U N D  P U R C H A S E D
-  I N S T A L L  E A R L Y  2 0 2 4

E N T R A N C E  R O A D  R E P A V E D
N E W  T R E E S  P L A N T E D

C H U R C H  S T R E E T  R E N T A L
F A C I L I T Y  R E N O V A T E D  F O R
P U B L I C  U S E
T A B L E S ,  C H A I R S ,
A P P L I A N C E S ,  S P E A K E R S ,
A N D  W I F I  P U R C H A S E D  A N D
I N S T A L L E D



2 0 2 3  P A R K  I M P R O V E M E N T S

M C K I T R I C K  M E A D O W S
N A T U R E  P R E S E R V E

$ 3 1 , 0 0 0  E N V I R O N M E N T A L
E D U C A T I O N  G R A N T  F R O M
T H E  O H I O  E P A  T O  P A R T N E R
W I T H  S T U D E N T S  F O R  T H E
R E S T O R A T I O N  O F  T H E
N A T U R A L  A R E A
T O L L E S  O U T D O O R  C A R E E R
S T U D E N T S  P R O V I D E D
I N P U T  O N  P A R K  P L A N N I N G
T O L L E S  S T U D E N T S  H E L P E D
W I T H  I N V A S I V E  S P E C I E S
R E M O V A L  A N D  T R E E
P R U N I N G
P A R K I N G  L O T  A N D  T R A I L S
P L A N N E D  F O R  2 0 2 4



C A M P G R O U N D

I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  O F  N E W
C A M P G R O U N D  S O F T W A R E
F O R  2 0 2 3  H A S  I N C R E A S E D
E F F I C E N C Y  A N D
D E C R E A S E D  P R O C E S S I N G
F E E S  F O R  T H E  V I L L A G E .
C A M P G R O U N D  R U L E S
U P D A T E D  W I T H  C O U N C I L
I N P U T ,  N E W  L E N G T H  O F
S T A Y  L I M I T  S T A R T I N G
2 0 2 4 .
C A M P G R O U N D  R A T E S
I N C R E A S E D  F O R  2 0 2 4 .
R E V E N U E  F O R  J A N  2 0 2 4
C O M P A R E D  T O  2 0 2 3  I S  U P .

T O T A L  #  O F
R E S E R V A T I O N S

1 , 9 1 8

2 0 2 3  R E V E N U E
$ 3 2 2 , 1 7 8

A V E R A G E  L E N G T H  O F
S T A Y

5  D A Y S



C A M P G R O U N D  
R E V E N U E  A N D  E X P E N D I T U R E S  

Campground Revenue Parks Expenditures

2020 2021 2022 2023
0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

350000



C A T T L E  B A R N
3 0  R E N T A L S

E N T R A N C E  R O A D  R E P A V E D
N E W  T R E E S  P L A N T E D

S H E L T E R  R E N T A L S

N O R T H  S H E L T E R
4 7  R E N T A L S

S O U T H  S H E L T E R
5 5  R E N T A L S

T H E  L O F T  A T
C H U R C H  S T R E E T

3 9  R E N T A L S

P A S T I M E  P A R K
Y O U T H  B U I L D I N G

1 5 5  R E N T A L S



R E N T A L  F A C I L I T Y  R E V E N U E

Youth Building Loft At Church Street

2020 2021 2022 2023
0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

T H E  L O F T  A T  C H U R C H  S T R E E T  O P E N E D  F O R
R E S E R V A T I O N S  S T A R T I N G  I N  M A R C H  2 0 2 3



F O O T B A L L

P C A B A  -  P A R T I C I P A N T S

B A S E B A L L / S O F T B A L L
7 3 8

B A S K E T B A L L
4 4 9

F O O T B A L L
2 4 5

V O L L E Y B A L L
1 1 2

C H E E R L E A D I N G
7 7



P A R K S  -  2 0 2 4

P A S T I M E  P A R K H E R I T A G E  T R A I L H E A D

D O G  P A R K

N A T U R E  P R E S E R V E

N E W  P I C N I C  T A B L E S
R U N  E L E C T R I C I T Y  T O  T H E
Y O U T H  B U I L D I N G
S E V E R A L  R O O F S  T O  B E
R E P L A C E D  T H R O U G H
I N S U R A N C E  C L A I M

W O R K I N G  O N  E N G I N E E R I N G
D E S I G N  
1 S T  P H A S E  -  S H E L T E R  W I T H
P A R K I N G  L O T

W O R K I N G  O N  E N G I N E E R I N G
D E S I G N

I N S T A L L  G R A V E L  P A R K I N G
L O T  +  P A V E  A C C E S S  R O A D
C O N T I N U E  T O  R E M O V E
I N V A S I V E S  A N D  P L A N T
T R E E S
C R E A T E  E D U C A T I O N A L
S I G N A G E



P A R K S  -  F U T U R E

CREATING A ROADMAP FOR
THE FUTURE OF THE PARKS
AND REC DEPT.

MADISON MEADOWS

DOG PARK

PASTIME PARK

HERITAGE TRAIL & TRAILHEAD

CONVERSE RD. PARKLAND

CONTINUE TO BE INVOLVED IN
DEVELOPMENT PLANNING TO
EMPHASIZE GREEN SPACE
AND CONNECTIVITY



A Q U A T I C S



F O O T B A L L

A Q U A T I C S  -  B Y  T H E  N U M B E R S

P O O L  M E M B E R S H I P S
4 2 4

D A I L Y  P A S S E S
1 0 , 5 2 2

P O O L  E M P L O Y E E S
4 0

P O O C H  P A D D L E
5 0  D O G S

S W I M  L E S S O N S  &  P O O L
P A R T I E S

1 0 0 %  B O O K E D



P O O L  R E V E N U E  A N D  E X P E N D I T U R E S  

Pool Revenue Pool Expenditures

2021 2022 2023
0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000



2 0 2 3  A Q U A T I C S  I M P R O V E M E N T S

NEW SAND FILTER MEDIA

WAXED POOL SLIDE

POOL CONTROLLERS
REPAIRED

PUMP MAINTENANCE

NEW POOL CHAIRS



S H A R K S  S W I M  T E A M

1 1 2
S W I M  T E A M  M E M B E R S

6
T O T A L  S W I M  M E E T S

P R I O R I T Y  R E G I S T R A T I O N
F O R  R E S I D E N T  V S .  

N O N - R E S I D E N T



A Q U A T I C S  -  2 0 2 4

AQUATICS FEASIBILITY
STUDY

ASSESSES PHYSICAL
FACILITY AND
COMMUNITY’S CURRENT
AND FUTURE NEEDS

IMPROVE MAINTENANCE
SCHEDULE AND CIP
PLANNING

REPAINT POOL INTERIOR

ADDITIONAL SHADE
OPTIONS FOR VISITORS

NEW POOL CHAIRS



E V E N T S



B L U E G R A S S  &  B B Q

B L U E G R A S S  &   B B Q  S E R V E S  A S
T H E  K I C K O F F  T O  P L A I N  C I T Y ’ S

S U M M E R  F E S T I V A L  S E A S O N .
T H E  E V E N T  F E A T U R E S  A

V A R I E T Y  O F  M U S I C A L  A C T S ,
F O O D  T R U C K S ,  B O U N C E

H O U S E S ,  A N D  N E I G H B O R L Y
F U N .

8  H O U R S  O F  B L U E G R A S S
M U S I C  W I T H  6  B L U E G R A S S
B A N D S
5  F O O D  A N D  D E S S E R T
V E N D O R S
B O U N C E  H O U S E  A N D  F A C E
P A I N T I N G

A T T E N D A N C E :  1 , 2 0 0



M O T H E R ’ S  C O O K I E S

F A M I L I E S  E N J O Y E D  F U N  F I L L E D
A C T I V I T I E S  T H A T  C R E A T E D

M E M O R I E S  F O R  A  L I F E T I M E .
T H I S  F R E E  E V E N T  H A D  P H O T O

P O P - U P  E X P E R I E N C E S ,
O U T D O O R  G A M E S ,  C A R N I V A L -

S T Y L E  C H A L L E N G E S ,  A  C R E A T E -
A - B I T E  T R E A T  W I N D O W ,

F R O S T E D  H A I R ,  F A C E  P A I N T I N G
S T A T I O N S ,  M U S I C ,  P L E N T Y  O F

M O T H E R ’ S  C O O K I E S  A N D  S O
M U C H  M O R E .  

E N D  O F  S C H O O L  B A S H !
L I V E  D J
F O O D  A N D  C O O K I E  V E N D O R S
M I N I  G O L F ,  K I D S  G A M E S ,
C U S T O M  S T I C K E R  S T A T I O N ,
A N D  M A N Y  F R E E  A C T I V I T I E S  

A T T E N D A N C E :  2 , 3 0 0



4 T H  O F  J U L Y

P L A I N  C I T Y ' S  F O U R T H  O F  J U L Y
C E L E B R A T I O N  A T  P A S T I M E

P A R K  I S  O N E  O F  O U R
C O M M U N I T Y ' S  M O S T

A N T I C I P A T E D  A N N U A L
E V E N T S .  

N E W  C H A N G E S  I M P L E M E N T E D
I N  2 0 2 3  F O R  S A F E T Y  W E R E

W E L L  R E C E I V E D  B Y  T H E
C O M M U N I T Y .

O V E R  3 5  S E P A R A T E  E N T R I E S
A N D  1 , 0 0 0  P A R T I C I P A N T S  I N
T H E  P A R A D E
7  F O O D  V E N D O R S
M U L T I P L E  B O U N C E  H O U S E S
A N D  A  M E C H A N I C A L  B U L L

A T T E N D A N C E :  7 , 1 0 0



F A R M E R S  M A R K E T

T H E  P L A I N  C I T Y  F A R M E R S
M A R K E T  I S  A  S E A S O N A L
F E S T I V A L  O F  L O C A L L Y -
G R O W N  P R O D U C E  A N D

H O M E M A D E  G O O D S !  H E L D
O N C E  W E E K L Y  F R O M  J U L Y
T H R O U G H  O C T O B E R ,  T H E

M A R K E T  F E A T U R E S  A  R A N G E
O F  F O O D  T R U C K S ,  A N D  O T H E R

A C T I V I T I E S .  

$ 4 , 0 0 0  G R A N T  R E C E I V E D
F R O M  U N I O N  C O U N T Y  H E A L T H
D E P A R T M E N T  F O R  2 0 2 3
1 5  M A R K E T  D A T E S
A V E R A G E  1 5  V E N D O R S  P E R
M A R K E T
I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  O F
N U T R I T I O N  P R O G R A M S

A T T E N D A N C E :  4 , 0 0 0



M U S I C  I N  T H E  P A R K

D U R I N G  T H I S  F R E E  S U M M E R
C O N C E R T  S E R I E S ,  T H E

C O M M U N I T Y  I S  I N V I T E D  T O
B R I N G  A  L A W N  C H A I R  O R

B L A N K E T  T O  P A S T I M E  P A R K
A N D  E N J O Y  A  W A R M  S U M M E R
E V E N I N G  F I L L E D  W I T H  G R E A T

M U S I C .  

1 5  P E R F O R M I N G  G R O U P S
S P R E A D  O U T  A C R O S S  1 4
C O N C E R T  D A T E S
A V E R A G E  7 5  A T T E N D E E S  P E R
D A T E

A T T E N D A N C E :  1 , 0 0 0



F A L L  F E S T

T H I S  S E A S O N A L  E V E N T
C E L E B R A T E S  T H E  A R R I V A L  O F

T H E  A U T U M N  A N D
H A L L O W E E N  S E A S O N S  A N D

I N C L U D E S  A  V A R I E T Y  O F
F A M I L Y - F R I E N D L Y  A C T I V I T I E S

S U C H  A S  T R I C K - O R - T R E A T ,
C O S T U M E  C O N T E S T ,  G I A N T

P U M P K I N  C A R V I N G ,  G A M E S ,
C R A F T S ,  A N D  F O O D  V E N D O R S .

O V E R  2 0  F A M I L Y  F R I E N D L Y
A C T I V I T I E S
1 1  F O O D  V E N D O R S
4 5  C R A F T  V E N D O R S
M O R E  T H A N  4 0  B U S I N E S S E S
A N D  O R G A N I Z A T I O N S
P A R T I C I P A T I N G  I N  T R I C K  O R
T R E A T

A T T E N D A N C E :  3 , 1 0 0



C H R I S T M A S  U N D E R  T H E  C L O C K

C H R I S T M A S  U N D E R  T H E
C L O C K  A N D  R O U T E  4 2

H O L I D A Y  H O P  A R E  T W O  O F
T H E  M O S T  P O P U L A R  A N N U A L

E V E N T S  I N  P L A I N  C I T Y .  T H E
E V E N T S  A T T R A C T

T H O U S A N D S  O F  R E S I D E N T S
E A G E R  T O  W A T C H  T H E

A N N U A L  C H R I S T M A S  T R E E
L I G H T I N G  A N D  P A R T I C I P A T E

I N  H O L I D A Y  A C T I V I T I E S .  

8  H O L I D A Y  H O P
P A R T I C I P A T I N G  B U S I N E S S E S
1 6  U P T O W N  P A R T I C I P A T I N G
B U S I N E S S E S
6  F O O D  V E N D O R S
1 0  C R A F T  V E N D O R S
1 3  C O M M U N I T Y
O R G A N I Z A T I O N S

A T T E N D A N C E :  3 , 5 0 0



C O M M U N I T Y  E V E N T S

T O U C H  A  T R U C K
A T T E N D A N C E :  1 , 0 0 0

N A T U R E  P R O G R A M M I N G

A T T E N D A N C E :  3 5 0
H O L I D A Y  L I G H T S

A T T E N D A N C E :  3 , 0 0 0

E A S T E R  E G G  H U N T
A T T E N D A N C E :  1 , 2 0 0



E V E N T S  -  2 0 2 4

NEW EVENTS FOR 2024
NATIONAL NIGHT OUT
MOVIE IN THE PARK
INCREASED NATURE
PROGRAMMING

INCREASE EFFICIENCY AND
QUALITY OF CURRENT EVENTS

CONTINUE TO PARTNER WITH
OTHER AGENCIES TO PROVIDE
QUALITY PROGRAMMING

STRIVE TO INCREASE
SPONSORSHIPS FOR EVENTS



T R E E S



T R E E  C O M M I S S I O N

THE PLAIN CITY TREE COMMISSION WAS
REVITALIZED IN 2023 UNDER THE GUIDANCE OF
ODNR DIVISION OF FORESTRY.

THE MISSION OF THE PLAIN CITY TREE
COMMISSION IS TO MAINTAIN, IMPROVE AND
INCREASE THE COMMUNITY FOREST OF THE
VILLAGE THROUGH THE SHARING OF
EXPERTISE, GUIDANCE AND
RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE VILLAGE
ADMINISTRATION, DEVELOPERS AND
PROPERTY OWNERS FOR: 

THE PROTECTION OF HEALTHY TREES
PROPER NATIVE TREE SELECTION AND
PLANTING SITE SELECTION
PLANNED PRUNING
TREE RISK ASSESSMENT
PLANTING IN PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAYS AND
OPEN SPACES



T R E E  C O M M I S S I O N

UPDATED THE VILLAGE TREE ORDINANCE
CREATED A PAGE ON THE VILLAGE WEBSITE WITH A WEALTH OF
RESOURCES FOR RESIDENTS
ASSISTED WITH THE PLANNING AND EXECUTION OF EARTH DAY AND
ARBOR DAY CELEBRATIONS
SCHEDULED TREE PLANTING AND PRUNING WORSHOPS

ATTENDED BY VILLAGE STAFF AND THE GENERAL PUBLIC
REVIEWED AND MADE RECOMMENDATIONS TO DEVELOPMENT
LANDSCAPING PLANS
CREATED A PLAIN CITY TREE PLANTING GUIDE DOCUMENT
APPLIED FOR OUR FIRST TREE CITY USA AWARD
PARTICIPATED IN A “MONDAY WITH THE MAYOR” EPISODE



2 4 1
T R E E S  P L A N T E D

E N T R A N C E  R O A D  R E P A V E D
N E W  T R E E S  P L A N T E D

T R E E S  -  B Y  T H E  N U M B E R S

4 0
T R E E S  P R U N E D

4
T R E E S  R E M O V E D

3
D E V E L O P M E N T

L A N D S C A P E  P L A N S
R E V I E W E D

1 0
M E M O R I A L  

T R E E S
P L A N T E D



T R E E  C I T Y  U S A

THE ARBOR DAY FOUNDATION
REQUIRES FOUR OVERARCHING
STANDARDS FOR OUR COMMUNITY TO
RECEIVE ANNUAL TREE CITY USA
RECOGNITION.

 MAINTAINING A TREE BOARD OR
DEPARTMENT.

1.

 HAVING A COMMUNITY TREE
ORDINANCE.

2.

 SPENDING AT LEAST $2 PER CAPITA
ON URBAN FORESTRY.

3.

 CELEBRATING ARBOR DAY4.

PLAIN CITY WILL BE RECEIVING THEIR
FIRST TREE CITY USA AWARD IN MAY OF
2024 DUE TO THE EFFORTS OF THE TREE
COMMISSION AND STAFF!



T R E E S  -  2 0 2 4

CELEBRATE TREES MONTH (APRIL)
TREE PLANTING WORKSHOP
EARTH DAY - FREE TREE GIVEAWAY - 2,000 TREES
ARBOR DAY CELEBRATION
TREE THEMED STORYWALK TRAIL INSTALLMENT
PARTNER WITH THE SCHOOL DISTRICT AND LIBRARY

UPDATE SUGGESTED TREE LIST
REVAMP THE MEMORIAL TREE BROCHURE
GET PASTIME PARK ACCREDITED AS A LEVEL 1 ARBORETUM



O U R  P U R P O S ES U M M A R Y

A C Q U I R E  L A N D  &  D E V E L O P  P A R K S  A N D
T R A I L S  T O  M E E T  C O M M U N I T Y  N E E D S

P R O V I D E  S A F E ,  C L E A N  &  M E M O R A B L E
E V E N T S  A N D  E N V I R O N M E N T S

G R O W  A N D  M A I N T A I N  I N D O O R / O U T D O O R
R E C R E A T I O N A L  F A C I L I T I E S

G R O W  A N D  M A I N T A I N  R E C R E A T I O N A L
P R O G R A M S  A N D  E V E N T S

B A L A N C E  G R O W T H  &  C O M M U N I T Y  N E E D S
W I T H  P R A C T I C A L  S O L U T I O N S

T H E  P A R K S  A N D  R E C R E A T I O N  D E P A R T M E N T  W I L L
C O N T I N U E  T O  U S E  T H E  2 0 2 0  P A R K S  M A S T E R  P L A N  T O

G U I D E  O U R  C U R R E N T  A N D  F U T U R E  E F F O R T S



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Members of the Village of Plain City Council 

From: Haley Lupton, Village Administrator 

Date: February 8, 2024 

RE: Ordinance 06-2024: Establishing a Moratorium on the Cultivation, Processing, and 

Retail Sale of Adult Use Cannabis Within the Village of Plain City 

 
 
Background: 
 
At the request of the Village of Plain City Council, staff has drafted legislation to enact a 
moratorium on the cultivation, processing, and retail sale of adult use cannabis within the limits 
of the Village of Plain City. The moratorium has been proposed in order to provide Council, staff 
and legal counsel adequate time to research and determine the optimal route forward in regards 
to this topic. 
 
The proposed moratorium would prohibit the cultivation, processing, and retail sale of adult use 
cannabis within Village limits. The length of the moratorium is for one year and Council may, at 
their discretion, extend, maintain, or revoke the moratorium with additional legislation. The 
authority for the Village Council to enact such a moratorium is set forth in Ohio Revised Code 
Section 3780.25. 
 
 
Objective: 
 
To approve legislation to enact a moratorium on the cultivation, processing, and retail sale of 
adult use cannabis within the Village of Plain City for a term of one year. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends Council approve Ordinance 06-2024 at the second reading on February 26, 
2024. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A MORATORIUM ON THE CULTIVATION, 
PROCESSING, AND RETAIL SALE OF ADULT USE CANNABIS WITHIN THE 

VILLAGE OF PLAIN CITY 
 
WHEREAS, on November 7, 2023, Ohioans voted to approve Issue 2, the Marijuana 
Legalization Initiative, which made adult recreational marijuana cultivation, processing, and 
use legal effective December 7, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 3780 of the Ohio Revised Code establishes a Division of Cannabis 
Control within the Department of Commerce, which shall provide for the licensure of “adult 
use” cannabis cultivators and processors, cannabis testing laboratories, and adult use 
dispensaries; and 
 
WHEREAS, for the purposes of this Ordinance, the definitions of “cultivators”, “processors”, 
and “adult use dispensaries” shall be accorded the same definitions as those found in Ohio 
Revised Code Chapter 3780; and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3780.25 of the Ohio Revised Code, the legislative authority 
of a municipal corporation may adopt legislation, by majority vote, to prohibit or limit the 
number of adult use cannabis operators within the municipal corporation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Council desires time to research and study whether to limit or 
prohibit the cultivation, processing, and/or dispensing of adult use cannabis, or, 
alternatively, to develop and implement regulations regarding the possible location and 
operation of cannabis related businesses within the Village of Plain City, including cannabis 
cultivators, processors, and adult use dispensaries; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Council believes that such a moratorium on cannabis-related 
business is necessary to ensure the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the 
Village of Plain City and for such moratorium to be in effect for a term of one year, with the 
provisions that Council may extend or remove such moratorium at its discretion. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, a majority 
of the members elected or appointed thereto concurring, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Pursuant to the authority set forth in the Ohio Revised Code Section 3780.25, the 
Village of Plain City Council hereby establishes a moratorium for a term of one year with 
respect to the authorization or establishment of any cannabis-related businesses within the 
Village of Plain City, including, but not limited to, cannabis-related cultivators, processors, 
and/or adult use dispensaries. 
 
Section 2. It is found that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating to the 



 

passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and that all 
deliberations of this Council that resulted in this formal action were in meetings open to the 
public in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 
 
Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be effective from and after the earliest period provided by 
law.  
 
 
Passed: _________________________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: ________________________________ ___________________________________ 
  Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
 
First reading:  ________________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 
 
Second reading: ______________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Certificate of Publication 
 
The undersigned, being Clerk of Council of the Village of Plain City, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing was published by posting for 15 days as required by law and in accordance with 
Section 4.15 of the Codified Ordinances.  The posting was done from _______________, 
2024 to _______________, 2024 at the Office of the Clerk of Council located at 800 Village 
Boulevard; all being in the Village of Plain City, Ohio and the Village of Plain City Website at 
www.plain-city.com. 
 
 
Date: ______________________, 2024 _______________________________________ 
          Clerk of Council 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Members of the Village of Plain City Council 

From: Haley Lupton, Village Administrator 

Date: February 21, 2024 

RE: Ordinance 04-2024: Amending the Codified Ordinances, Chapter 509.10, Excessive 

Noise, of Part Five of the General Offenses Code 

 
 
Background: 
 
At the request and direction of Council, and in conjunction with members of Council, staff has 
drafted comprehensive amendments for Chapter 509.10 of the Codified Ordinances, titled 
“Excessive Noise” but more commonly referred to as the “noise ordinance”. Chapter 509.10 sets 
forth the regulations and procedures for determining what constitutes an excessive noise and 
how to handle complaints regarding excessive noise. 
 
In the proposed amendment, specifications as to how loud noises may be when measured from 
the source, in terms of decibel levels, are included. Additionally, updates to the defined terms 
have been included. The new regulation set forth in the proposed amendment also permit the use 
of decibel level meters by law enforcement personnel. 
 
 
Objective: 
 
To approve comprehensive updates to Chapter 509.10 of the Village of Plain City Codified 
Ordinance’s.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends Council approve Ordinance 04-2024 at the second reading on March 11, 2024. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 509.10, 
EXCESSIVE NOISE, OF PART FIVE OF THE GENERAL OFFENSES CODE  

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Plain City Codified Ordinances Chapter 509.10 sets forth the 
regulations and procedures for determining excessive noises and processing excessive 
noise complaints within the Village of Plain City; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the direction provided by Council, comprehensive updates 
to the provisions of Chapter 509.10 have been proposed by staff and are incorporated herein 
in the form of Exhibit A; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Council has determined the need to amend Chapter 509.10, in 
accordance with Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, a majority 
of the members elected or appointed thereto concurring, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Council hereby amends Codified Ordinances Chapter 509.10, as presented, which 
said amendment is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A; the language 
being removed is struck and the language being added is in red and underlined. 
 
Section 2. It is found that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating to the 
passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and that all 
deliberations of this Council that resulted in this formal action were in meetings open to the 
public in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 
 
Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be effective from and after the earliest period provided by 
law.  
 
 
Passed: _________________________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: ________________________________ ___________________________________ 
  Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
 
First reading:  ________________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 
 
Second reading: ______________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 

 



 

Certificate of Publication 
 
The undersigned, being Clerk of Council of the Village of Plain City, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing was published by posting for 15 days as required by law and in accordance with 
Section 4.15 of the Codified Ordinances.  The posting was done from _______________, 
2024 to _______________, 2024 at the Office of the Clerk of Council located at 800 Village 
Boulevard; all being in the Village of Plain City, Ohio and the Village of Plain City Website at 
www.plain-city.com. 
 
 
Date: ______________________, 2024 _______________________________________ 
          Clerk of Council 



ORDINANCE 04-2024 EXHIBIT A 
 
 

CHAPTER 509.10 
 

Excessive Noise 
 

 
509.10 EXCESSIVE NOISE. 
 
(a) General Definitions. As used in this Section, the term “noise” means any sound, 
vibration, or oscillation in air pressure. The term “plainly audible” means noise produced by 
any source that is perceptible by a person of normal hearing ability. The term “dBA” shall 
mean decibels, as measured on the “A” scale of a standard sound level meter meeting the 
applicable requirements for a type 2 sound level meter as defined in American National 
Standards Institute Standard S1.4—1983, or the most recent revision thereof. The term 
“dBC” shall mean decibels, as measured on the “C” scale of a standard sound level meter 
meeting the applicable requirements for a type 2 sound level meter as defined in the 
American National Standards Institute Standard S1.4-1983, or the most revision thereof. 
The term “sound level meter” means an instrument certified to meet or exceed ANSI 
standards which includes an omnidirectional microphone, an amplifier, an output meter, 
and frequency weighting network(s) used for the measurement of sound levels. The term 
“slow read function” means that the time weighting setting of the sound level meter is set 
to measure sound levels using a one-second time constant. No person shall generate or 
permit to be generated noise or loud sound from any source, for an unnecessary or 
unreasonable length of time, which is plainly audible and likely to cause inconvenience or 
annoyance to persons of ordinary sensibilities. It is prima facie unlawful for a person to 
generate or permit to be generated sound as described above in the following 
circumstances: 

(1) On all property between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on Sunday through 
Thursday and between the hours of 11 p.m. and 7 a.m. on Friday and Saturday, in all 
zoning districts as set forth in the Zoning Ordinance of the Village, regardless of any 
existing nonconforming use or variance, where the sound is plainly audible; 
(2) On a street, highway or in the public right-of-way where the sound is plainly 
audible.  

(b) Certain Noises Prohibited. No person shall generate or permit to be generated noise or 
loud sound from any source, for an unnecessary or unreasonable length of time in 
accordance with 509.10(g), Noise Control Regulations, and to include Table 1. As used in 
this section, "plainly audible" means any sound produced that can be clearly heard by a 
person using his normal hearing faculties, at a distance of 50 feet or more from the source 
of the noise or loud sound. 



(c) No person, being the owner, or person in possession of a premises or person in control 
of the premises by reason of employment, agency or otherwise whether such ownership, 
possession or control is exclusive or joint, shall permit a violation of this section. 
(d) Any and all complaints under this section shall be made in writing and signed by the 
complainant or a law enforcement officer. 
(e) Any law enforcement officer or person who hears a sound that is plainly audible as 
defined herein shall be entitled to measure the sound according to the following 
standards: 

(1) The primary means of detection shall be by means of the officer's or person's 
ordinary auditory senses, so long as the officer's or person's hearing is not 
enhanced by any mechanical device, such as a microphone or hearing aid; 
(2) The officer or person must be able to reasonably identify the source that is 
producing the sound so that the officer or person can readily identify the offending 
person and the distance involved; and 
(3) The officer or person need not determine the particular words or phrases being 
produced or the name of any song or artist producing the sound. The detection of a 
rhythmic bass reverberating type sound is sufficient to constitute plainly audible 
sound. 

(f) (e) Exemptions to section (a) (b) include the following: 
(1) Sound emanating from scheduled events conducted, sponsored or permitted by 
the Village or schools; 
(2) Construction operations occurring between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 
p.m., provided that all equipment is operated within the manufacturer's 
specifications and/or with all standard manufacturer's mufflers and noise-reducing 
equipment in use and in proper operating condition; 
(3) Construction operations conducted by the Village as approved by the Village 
Administrator and/or Village Council; 
(4) The loading and/or unloading of waste receptacles between the hours of 7:00 
a.m. and 9:00 p.m.; 
(5) The provisions of this section shall not apply to any law enforcement motor 
vehicle equipped with any communication device in the performance of law 
enforcement duties or to any emergency vehicle equipped with any communication 
device necessary in the performance of any emergency procedures. Furthermore, 
the provisions of this section do not apply to the noise made by a horn, siren or 
other warning device required or permitted by state law. 
(6) Noise of safety signals, warning devices, emergency pressure valves, the Village 
clock tower and church bells; 
(7) Persons in possession of a current parade permit are exempt from the 
provisions of this subsection. 
(8) Home maintenance equipment to include, but not limited to, lawnmowers, hedge 
trimmers, air compressors, chain saws, and other similar equipment for home use. 
The exclusion for such equipment is limited to the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. 
(9) Noise of emergency work authorized by the Village. 

  (10) Village sponsored event in a Village Park. 



(f) Decibel level readings shall be determined through the use of a calibrated sound level 
meter, as defined in 509.10(a), in the slow read function. Measurements shall be taken over 
a length of time not less than two (2) minutes and no greater than ten (10) minutes. The 
sound levels shall be measured during the production of the noise from a point at or up to 
fifty (50) feet beyond the property line of the property from which the noise is being 
produced. 
(g) Noise Control Regulations. No person shall operate, cause to be operated, or permit on 
public or private property any source of sound in such a manner as to create a sound level 
which exceeds the limits set forth in Table 1 at the emanating property that aligns with the 
land use category. 

TABLE 1. SOUND LEVELS BY EMANATING LAND USE CATEGORY 
 

Emanating 
Land Use Category 

Time At a sustained 
length of time 
between 2 and 10 
minutes (dBA) 

At a sustained 
length of time 
between 2 and 10 
minutes (dBC) 

Residential 
Districts 

11 p.m. - 7 a.m. 60 70 

7 a.m. - 11 p.m. 60 70 

Business Districts 
11 p.m. - 7 a.m. 70 80 

7 a.m. - 11 p.m. 100 110 

Mixed Use 
11 p.m. - 7 a.m. (Fri.-Sat.) 70 80 

7 a.m. - 11 p.m. (Fri.-Sat.) 75 85 

Industrial Districts All times 75 85 

 
(h) Any emission of noise from any stationary noise device in excess of the limitations 
established by this section shall be deemed and is declared to be a public nuisance. 
(i) In any criminal prosecution for a violation of this section the court may admit evidence of 
a noise level as tested by any sound level meter which meets or exceeds the American 
National Standards Institute (ANSI) specifications for Type II equipment. 
(g) (j) Except as otherwise provided in this section, whoever violates this section is guilty of 
generating unreasonable noise, a minor misdemeanor. If within 12 months of the offense, 
the offender has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to one violation of this section, 
whoever violates this section is guilty of a fourth-degree misdemeanor. If within 12 months 
of the offense, the offender has been convicted of or pleaded guilty to two or more 



violations of this section, whoever violates this section is guilty of a third-degree 
misdemeanor. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Members of the Village of Plain City Council 

From: Haley Lupton, Village Administrator 

Date: February 20, 2024 

RE: Ordinance 07-2024: Amending the Codified Ordinances by the Removal of Chapter 

185, Income Tax, of Part One of the Administrative Code 

 
 
Background: 
 
Recently, the Village of Plain City Council approved Ordinance 03-2024, which implemented 
updates to Chapter 187, titled “Income Tax”, and done so pursuant to Ohio House Bill 33. Upon 
staff review, it was determined that Chapter 185, also regarding income tax, has been superseded 
by Chapters 186 and 187. As such, Chapter 185 is no longer needed and may be removed from the 
Plain City Codified Ordinances. The proposed legislation, Ordinance 07-2024, removes the 
unneeded Chapter 185 and text from the Codified Ordinances. 
 
 
Objective: 
 
To remove Chapter 185 from the Plain City Codified Ordinances.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends Council approve Ordinance 07-2024 at the second reading on March 11, 2024. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES BY THE REMOVAL 
OF CHAPTER 185, INCOME TAX, OF PART ONE OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE 

CODE 
 
WHEREAS, the Village of Plain City Codified Ordinances Chapter 185 sets forth regulations 
and processes regarding the administration of the Plain City income tax; and 
 
WHEREAS, the enactment of Chapter 185 took place through the passage of Ordinance 42-
92 on December 28, 1992; and 
 
WHEREAS, since the enactment of Chapter 185, subsequent Chapters of the Codified 
Ordinances have been enacted that set forth current regulations and processes for the 
administration of the Plain City income tax, which are in the form of Chapter 186 and Chapter 
187; and 
 
WHEREAS, with the continuation of Chapter 186 and Chapter 187; Chapter 185 is deemed 
unnecessary and, as such, is subject to removal from the Administrative Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Council has determined the need to amend the Administrative Code 
of the Codified Ordinances by removing Chapter 185 of Part One, Title Nine, of the 
Administrative Code. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, a majority 
of the members elected or appointed thereto concurring, as follows: 
 
Section 1. Council hereby amends the Codified Ordinances by removing Chapter 185 of Part 
One, Title Nine, of the Administrative Code. 
 
Section 2. It is found that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating to the 
passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and that all 
deliberations of this Council that resulted in this formal action were in meetings open to the 
public in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 
 
Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be effective from and after the earliest period provided by 
law.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Passed: _________________________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: ________________________________ ___________________________________ 
  Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
 
First reading:  ________________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 
 
Second reading: ______________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Certificate of Publication 
 
The undersigned, being Clerk of Council of the Village of Plain City, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing was published by posting for 15 days as required by law and in accordance with 
Section 4.15 of the Codified Ordinances.  The posting was done from _______________, 
2024 to _______________, 2024 at the Office of the Clerk of Council located at 800 Village 
Boulevard; all being in the Village of Plain City, Ohio and the Village of Plain City Website at 
www.plain-city.com. 
 
 
Date: ______________________, 2024 _______________________________________ 
          Clerk of Council 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Members of the Village of Plain City Council 

From: Haley Lupton, Village Administrator 

Date: February 20, 2024 

RE: Ordinance 08-2024: Approving Current Replacement Pages to the Plain City 

Codified Ordinances 

 
 
Background: 
 
Annually, the Village receives a codified ordinance update from American Legal Publishing, the 
host for Plain City’s Codified Ordinances. Ordinance 08-2023 is to formally approve the addition of 
passed Plain City legislation from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 to the Codified 
Ordinances. This also includes supplemental legislation passed by the State of Ohio, as 
applicable. The proposed replacement pages are attached to Ordinance 08-2023 in the form of 
“Exhibit A”. 
 
 
Objective: 
 
To formally implement the updated local and state legislation into the Village of Plain City 
Codified Ordinance’s.  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends Council approve Ordinance 08-2024 at the second reading on March 11, 2024. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE CURRENT REPLACEMENT PAGES TO THE 
PLAIN CITY CODIFIED ORDINANCES 

 
WHEREAS, the Ohio Constitution requires that Ohio municipal ordinances comply with 
State law if they are an exercise of the Municipality’s police powers; and 
 
WHEREAS, certain provisions within the Codified Ordinances should be amended to 
conform with current State law; and 
 
WHEREAS, various ordinances of a general and permanent nature have been passed by 
Council which should be included in the Codified Ordinances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village has heretofore entered into a contract with the Walter H. Drane 
Company to prepare and publish such revision which is before Council. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, a majority 
of the members elected or appointed thereto concurring, as follows: 
 
Section 1. That the ordinances of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, of a general and permanent 
nature, as revised, recodified, rearranged, and consolidated into component codes, titles, 
chapters, and sections within the 2024 Replacement Pages to the Codified Ordinances, are 
hereby approved and adopted. 
 
Section 2. That the following sections and chapters are hereby added, amended, or 
repealed as respectively indicated in order to comply with current State law. 
 

Traffic Code 
 

303.081 Impounding Vehicles on Private Residential or Agricultural Property. (Amended) 
303.082 Private Tow-Away Zones. (Amended) 
303.083 Impounding Vehicles on Public Property. (Amended) 
303.09 Leaving Junk and Other Vehicles on Private or Public Property Without Permission 
or Notification. (Amended) 
303.10 Leaving Junk Vehicles on Private Property With Permission of Owner. (Amended)  
303.991 Committing an Offense While Distracted Penalty. (Amended) 
331.35 Occupying Travel Trailer, Fifth Wheel Vehicle or Manufactured or Mobile Home 
While in Motion. (Amended) 
333.01 OVI; Willful Misconduct; Speed. (Amended) 
333.03 Maximum Speed Limits; Assured Clear Distance Ahead. (Amended) 
333.11 Electronic Wireless Communication Device Use Prohibited While Driving. (Amended) 
335.07 Driving Under Suspension or License Restriction. (Amended) 
335.071 Driving Under OVI Suspension. (Amended) 



 

Traffic Code (Cont.) 
 

335.072 Driving Under Financial Responsibility Law Suspension or Cancellation; Driving 
Under a Nonpayment of Judgment Suspension. (Amended) 
335.073 Driving Without Complying With License Reinstatement Requirements. 
(Amended) 
335.074 Driving Under License Forfeiture or Child Support Suspension. (Amended) 
337.22 Windshield and Windshield Wiper; Sign or Poster Thereon. (Amended) 
341.01 Commercial Drivers Definitions. (Amended) 
351.04 Parking Near Curb; Handicapped Locations on Public and Private Lots and Garages. 
(Amended) 
 

General Offenses Code 
 
501.01 General Provisions and Penalty Definitions. (Amended) 
501.99 Penalties for Misdemeanors. (Amended) 
505.071 Cruelty to Companion Animals. (Amended) 
505.12 Coloring Rabbits or Baby Poultry; Sale or Display of Poultry. (Amended) 
509.04 Disturbing a Lawful Meeting. (Amended) 
509.11 Impeding Public Passage of an Emergency Service Responder. (Added) 
513.01 Drug Abuse Control Definitions. (Amended) 
513.03 Drug Abuse; Controlled Substance Possession or Use. (Amended)  
513.04 Possessing Drug Abuse Instruments. (Amended) 
513.12 Drug Paraphernalia. (Amended) 
513.121 Marihuana Drug Paraphernalia. (Amended) 
517.08 Raffles. (Amended) 
521.10 Nonsmoking Areas in Places of Public Assembly. (Amended) 
521.11 Spreading Contagion. (Added) 
525.05 Failure to Report a Crime, Injury or Knowledge of Death. (Amended) 
525.15 Assaulting Police Dog or Horse or an Assistance Dog. (Amended) 
529.02 Sales to and Use By Underage Persons; Securing Public Accommodations. 
(Amended) 
529.07 Open Container Prohibited. (Amended) 
533.01 Obscenity and Sex Offenses Definitions. (Amended) 
533.06 Voyeurism. (Amended) 
533.08 Procuring; Engagement in Sexual Activity for Hire. (Amended) 
537.03 Assault. (Amended) 
537.06 Menacing. (Amended) 
537.07 Endangering Children. (Amended) 
537.15 Temporary Protection Order. (Amended) 
545.05 Misdemeanor Theft. (Amended) 
549.02 Carrying Concealed Weapons. (Amended) 
549.04 Improperly Handling Firearms in a Motor Vehicle. (Amended) 

 
 



 

Section 3. The complete text of the Traffic and General Offenses Code sections listed above 
are set forth in full in the 2024 replacement pages to the Codified Ordinances which are 
hereby attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A.  Any summary publication of this ordinance 
shall include a complete listing of these sections.  Notice of adoption of each new section 
by reference to its title shall constitute sufficient publication of new matter contained 
therein. 
 
Section 4. It is found that all formal actions of this Council concerning and relating to the 
passage of this Ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of this Council and that all 
deliberations of this Council that resulted in this formal action were in meetings open to the 
public in compliance with all legal requirements, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code. 
 
Section 5.  This Ordinance shall be effective from and after the earliest period provided by 
law.  
 
 
Passed: _________________________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: ________________________________ ___________________________________ 
  Clerk of Council    Mayor 
 
 
First reading:  ________________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 
 
Second reading: ______________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Certificate of Publication 
 
The undersigned, being Clerk of Council of the Village of Plain City, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing was published by posting for 15 days as required by law and in accordance with 
Section 4.15 of the Codified Ordinances.  The posting was done from _______________, 
2024 to _______________, 2024 at the Office of the Clerk of Council located at 800 Village 
Boulevard; all being in the Village of Plain City, Ohio and the Village of Plain City Website at 
www.plain-city.com. 
 
 
Date: ______________________, 2024 _______________________________________ 
          Clerk of Council 



Ordinance 08-2024 Exhibit A





























































































































































































































































































































































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

800 Village Boulevard  |  P.O. Box 167  |  Plain City, OH 43064  |  614-873-3527  |  plain-city.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To: Members of the Village of Plain City Council 

From: Haley Lupton, Village Administrator 

Date: February 23, 2024 

RE: Resolution 11-2024: Establishing the Cadet Position within the Plain City Police 

Department 

 
 
Background: 
 
The Plain City Police Department, due to the growth of the Village of Plain City, requires additional 
Patrol Officers be employed to maintain the high level of safety and protection for residents and 
visitors. Through research and deliberation, it has been determined that the establishment of a 
Cadet position within the Plain City Police Department is necessary. The creation of the Cadet 
position would provide the Police Department with an additional opportunity to solicit 
applications from qualified individuals that desire to become a Police Officer. The Cadet position 
would be such that the individual is employed by the Plain City Police Department, as a cadet, 
during his/her Ohio Peace Officer Training program. The Plain City Police Department supports 
the establishment of the Cadet position. 
 
 
Objective: 
 
To establish the Cadet position within the Plain City Police Department. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends Council approve Resolution 11-2024 at the second reading on March 11, 2024. 



RESOLUTION NO. ____________ 
 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE CADET POSITION WITHIN THE PLAIN 
CITY POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Plain City is experiencing growth and requires additional Patrol 
Officers to maintain the safety of residents and visitors to Plain City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Plain City Police Department desires to employ highly qualified individuals 
as Patrol Officers; and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to employment as a Patrol Officer, individuals are required to complete 
Ohio Peace Officer Training through an approved Ohio Peace Officer Training Academy and 
obtain the necessary certifications and licenses as prescribed by the State of Ohio and Plain 
City Police Department; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Plain City Police Department recommends the establishment of a Cadet 
position such that qualified individuals may be employed, as a Cadet, by the Plain City Police 
Department during their Ohio Peace Officer Training; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Village Council agrees with the recommendation of the Plain City Police 
Department and has determined the need to create the Cadet position within the Plain City 
Police Department. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Plain City, Ohio, a majority 
of the members elected or appointed thereto concurring, as follows: 
 
Section 1. The Village Council hereby establishes the Cadet position within the Plain City 
Police Department. 
 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective from and after the earliest period provided by 
law. 
 
 
Passed: _________________________, 2024 
 
 
Attest: ________________________________ ___________________________________ 
   Clerk of Council     Mayor 
 
 
First reading:  ________________________, 2024 Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 
 
Second reading: ______________________, 2024  Vote: ____yea ____nay ___abstain 



Certificate of Publication 
 
The undersigned, being Clerk of Council of the Village of Plain City, hereby certifies that the 
foregoing was published by posting for 15 days as required by law and in accordance with 
Section 4.15 of the Codified Ordinances.  The posting was done from _______________, 2024 
to _______________, 2024 at the Office of the Clerk of Council located at 800 Village 
Boulevard; being in the Village of Plain City, Ohio, and the Village of Plain City Website at 
www.plain-city.com. 
 
Date: ______________________, 2024 _______________________________________ 
      Clerk of Council 



 

1 
 

Plain City Police Cadet Employment Agreement 

I understand and recognize that I have been conditionally hired by the Plain City Police 
Department (“PCPD” or “Employer”) as a Plain City Police Cadet.  As a condition of my hiring, 
I understand that I must successfully complete Ohio Peace Officer Training at an approved Ohio 
Peace Officer Training Academy (OPOTA) and obtain and maintain the necessary licenses and 
certifications required by the State of Ohio and/or the PCPD.  A failure to successfully complete 
the OPOTA training and/or obtain and maintain the necessary licenses and certifications will result 
in the PCPD rescinding its conditional offer of employment and my termination of employment.   

I acknowledge the PCPD will designate an Ohio Peace Officer Training Academy for me to attend 
and pay the cost of my attendance at the academy. In addition, the PCPD will purchase/provide all 
required equipment and uniform items necessary for this training.  

In addition to paying the cost of the OPOTA training and providing the required and necessary 
uniform and equipment items, the PCPD will provide me an hourly rate of compensation until I 
become a certified peace officer and begin my field training.  The hourly rate of pay will be $4.00 
per hour less than the Step 1 wage of the current Plain City Police Department pay scale. As of the 
date of this agreement, the wage will be $__________ per hour for all hours worked while in the 
classification of Plain City Police Cadet. Upon certification as a peace officer and the start of my 
field training, I acknowledge that my classification status will change to that of Plain City Police 
Officer/Patrolman and my rate of pay will be Step 1 of the current Plain City Police Department 
pay scale.  

In the event I voluntarily resign from the PCPD within three (3) years of the successful completion 
of the OPOTA training, I agree to reimburse the PCPD the cost of my training, equipment, and 
uniform items that it purchased for me according to the following schedule: 

• Voluntarily resigns with less than 1 year of service:     100% 
• Voluntarily resigns with less than 2 years, but more than 1 year of service:  66% 
• Voluntarily resigns with less than 3 years, but more than 2 years of service: 33% 
• Voluntarily resigns with more than 3 years of service:    0% 

Further, if I do not successfully complete the OPOTA training and testing to become a Police 
Officer/Patrolman for the PCPD, I recognize that I will have to reimburse the PCPD the entire cost 
of my OPOTA training, equipment, and uniform items paid for by the UCSO. The amount the 
PCPD paid for my OPOTA training, uniforms and equipment will be determined at the time of 
resignation or failure to complete OPOTA training 

In the event I am removed during my probationary period for unsatisfactory performance, or for 
“just cause,” as required by Ohio Revised Code, if applicable during the first three years of my 
employment, it is understood I do not have to reimburse the PCPD. 

I acknowledge that this agreement is an employment contract and that upon completion of my 
training and classification as a Police Officer/Patrolman by the PCPD, I will be subject to all terms 
and conditions of the effective Plain City Police Department policies and procedures, including 



 

2 
 

probationary periods. I acknowledge that as a Plain City Police Cadet, I will not begin my six-
month probationary period until I have successfully completed OPOTA and started my field 
training program with the employer. I further acknowledge that Plain City Police Cadets are not 
fully OPOTA certified sworn police officers and therefore, I will not start accruing classification 
seniority until I have successfully completed OPOTA training and started my employment in the 
classification of Plain City Police Officer/Patrolman. 

I understand that if it becomes necessary to enforce the terms of this agreement and judgment is 
entered against me, I will pay all costs and expenses incurred by the PCPD, including reasonable 
attorney fees. 

 
__________________________________  
Printed Name 
 
__________________________________ 
Signature 
 
__________________________________ 
Date 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Dale McKee 
Chief of Police 
 


	02.26.2024 Council Agenda
	02.12.2024 Council Minutes (DRAFT)
	Discussion - 2024 Impact Fee Annual Report
	Discussion - Ohio Plan Package Proposal
	Discussion - Parks and Recreation Department Year End Review
	Ord 06-2024 Staff Memo
	Ord 06-2024 Establishing a Moratorium on the Cultivation, Processing, and Retail Sale of Adult Use Cannabis Within the Village of Plain City
	Ord 04-2024 Staff Memo
	Ord 04-2024 Amending the Codified Ordinances, Chapter 509.10, Excessive Noise, of Part Five of the General Offenses Code
	Ord 04-2024 Exhibit A - Chapter 509.10 Amended
	Ord 07-2024 Staff Memo
	Ord 07-2024 Amending the Codified Ordinances by the Removal of Chapter 185, Income Tax, of Part One of the Administrative Code
	Ord 08-2024 Staff Memo
	Ord 08-2024 Approving Current Replacement Pages to the Plain City Codified Ordinances
	Ord 08-2024 Exhibit A - Replacement Pages to the Codified Ordinances of Plain City
	Res 11-2024 Staff Memo
	Res 11-2024 Establishing the Cadet Position within the Plain City Police Department
	Res 11-2024 Exhibit - Plain City Police Cadet Contract DRAFT



